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Introduction 

Disciplinary Counsel accuse respondent Hon. Bruce Morrow of using improper 

language in off-the-bench discussions with assistant prosecutors during a 2019 homicide 

trial. Those allegations are contrary to Michigan law—and this proceeding violated 

governing law in several other ways, too.  

The first problem is one that the Commission can’t resolve: Michigan’s judicial-

discipline system is unconstitutional. In Williams v Pennsylvania (2016),1 the United States 

Supreme Court held that the Due Process Clause prohibits those who make prosecutorial 

decisions from participating in the adjudication of the same case. The Commission 

directed Disciplinary Counsel to file a complaint against Judge Morrow—the complaint 

itself says so—and the Commission is now deciding whether its own allegations have 

merit. Under Williams, that constitutional error is so serious that it is not subject to 

“harmless error” analysis. But only the Michigan Supreme Court can address this 

constitutional issue.2 Judge Morrow raises these arguments only to preserve them. 

The second problem is one that the Commission can address. Under the plain 

language of Michigan Court Rule 9.231(B), Judge Morrow was entitled to an in-person 

hearing. The Master denied his motion for an in-person hearing without providing a 

reason—although it was ostensibly because of the COVID-19 pandemic. That was an 

error. There was no legal basis for the Master to decline to apply the Michigan Court 

Rules. Judge Morrow is entitled to rehearing in person. 

                                           
1 Williams v Pennsylvania, 136 S Ct 1899 (2016). 
2 Grievance Administrator v Fieger, 476 Mich 231, 254; 719 NW2d 123 (2006). 
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Third, there’s the legal error at the heart of the Master’s conclusions. In finding 

that Judge Morrow committed misconduct, the Master failed to apply the Michigan 

Supreme Court’s controlling opinion in Matter of Hocking (1996).3 There, the Court held 

that a judge did not commit misconduct by making statements that were “tasteless and 

undoubtedly offensive to the sensibilities of many citizens.”4 Disciplinary Counsel accuse 

Judge Morrow of making tasteless and offensive comments. The rules that applied to 

Judge Hocking should apply to Judge Morrow as well. The Commission should therefore 

find that Judge Morrow did not commit misconduct. 

Finally, if the Commission finds that Judge Morrow committed misconduct, it 

must determine the appropriate sanction. The Brown factors indicate that Judge Morrow 

should receive no more than a public censure. Indeed, since the Michigan Supreme Court 

imposed public censure when Judge Lisa Gorcyca was discourteous to children,5 Judge 

Morrow should receive no more than public censure for his allegedly discourteous 

comments to adults working within the justice system.  

Those are the core legal issues in this proceeding—but there’s also a question of 

doing justice. Legal scholars have noted that one of the themes in American racism is 

portraying Black men as hypersexual predators of white women.6 Unfortunately, that 

kind of rhetoric has infected this case since the beginning. It began with assistant 

                                           
3 Matter of Hocking, 451 Mich 1; 546 NW2d 234 (1996). 
4 Id. at 14. 
5 In re Gorcyca, 500 Mich 588; 902 NW2d 828 (2017). 
6 N. Jeremi Duru, The Central Park Five, The Scottsboro Boys, and the Myth of the Bestial Black Man, 

25 Cardozo  Rev 1315 (2004). 
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prosecutor Anna Bickerstaff, who falsely accused Judge Morrow of “hitting on” her. 

Bickerstaff disowned that statement when testifying under oath. But her lie persisted. 

According to Disciplinary Counsel, Judge Morrow didn’t just glance at a prosecutor; he 

was “overtly eyeing” her.7 He didn’t just sit next to Bickerstaff; he was “intimately … 

seated” next to her.8 He didn’t just refer to sex as part of an extended analogy; he 

“inject[ed] explicit sex into his conversation with this young woman.”9  

It’s hard to dismiss that rhetoric as accidental after another racist theme reared its 

head. William Noakes, a Black attorney who has a resume that would put anyone to 

shame, gave testimony that undermined Disciplinary Counsel’s case. Then Disciplinary 

Counsel dismissed Noakes as “pompous”—an echo of the racist “uppity” label used to 

dismiss accomplished Black men.10 This rhetoric is deeply troubling. Whatever the 

Commission’s answers to the core legal questions, it cannot do justice without addressing 

that rhetoric and its historical context. Overlooking racism only allows it to fester and 

spread. The Commission should clearly and forcefully reject this rhetoric.  

Relevant Facts 

A. Background on Judge Morrow 

Hon. Bruce Morrow has been a judge at the Wayne County Circuit Court since his 

election in 1998.11 Before that, he served as a judge at the Recorder’s Court. Ever since he 

                                           
7 Disciplinary Counsel’s Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, p. 12. 
8 Id., p. 5. 
9 Id., p. 6. 
10 Jennifer Lisa Vest, What Doesn’t Kill You: Existential Luck, Postracial Racism, and the Subtle and Not 

So Subtle Ways the Academy Keeps Women of Color Out, 12 Seattle J. for Soc. Justice. 471, 510 (2013). 
11 Answer, ¶1. 
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took the bench, Judge Morrow has been trying to demystify and humanize the judicial 

process, particularly for jurors.12 For example, he discourages attorneys from referring to 

those accused of crimes as “defendants,” and insists that attorneys use each defendant’s 

name.13 He treats defendants and their families with the same care and concern that he 

offers to victims and their families.14 At all times, Judge Morrow tries to demonstrate 

humility and to ensure equality and fairness.15 And as part of his effort to ensure justice 

and equal protection in his courtroom, Judge Morrow instructs jurors about confronting 

and challenging their own biases.16  

Judge Morrow has also tried to make the criminal-justice system more humane by 

mentoring inmates in the correctional system.17 As attorney Jeffrey Edison testified, Judge 

Morrow “encourage[s] those who have been caged for many years, sometimes caged for 

life, and tr[ies] to uplift their spirits and enhance their quality of life.”18 His former judicial 

assistant, Joan Kennedy-Hughes, described his “inspirational speeches to help the young 

men that were in prison to know that there is hope once they get on the other side.”19  

Judge Morrow has a reputation for integrity and for being one of the best trial 

judges in the criminal division.20 In a previous disciplinary proceeding, witnesses 

described him as “hardworking and punctual,” “fair,” and “as someone who reaches out 

                                           
12 Vol. III, p. 669; Vol. III, p. 794. 
13 Vol. I, p. 302. 
14 Vol. IV, p. 969. 
15 Vol. I, p. 670. 
16 Vol. III, p. 795. 
17 Id., p. 688. 
18 Id. 
19 Vol. IV, p. 1028. 
20 Vol. III, pp. 674, 811. 
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to defendants and tries to encourage them to change their ways.”21 (This report is a public 

record subject to judicial notice.22)  

Nevertheless, the Wayne County Prosecutor’s Office has a long history of 

animosity toward Judge Morrow.23 Attorney Nicole James recalled that, when she 

worked in the prosecutor’s office, she was told that Judge Morrow was a “bad judge.”24 

(That was well before Judge Morrow’s suspension in 2014.25) She formed a very different 

impression of Judge Morrow after she left the prosecutor’s office.26 James also knew that 

the Wayne County Prosecutor’s Office kept a “book” on Judge Morrow’s supposed 

errors—but she had never heard of similar books for other judges.27 This history of 

animosity arises in part from Judge Morrow’s willingness to hold prosecutors to their 

burden of proof and to dismiss cases or suppress evidence when the law requires it.28 

B. The Matthews case and its voir dire 

This disciplinary matter arises from the June 2019 homicide trial of James Edward 

Matthews for the 2003 murder of Camille Robinson.29 Judge Morrow presided. William 

Noakes was the defense attorney, while Ashley Ciaffone and Anna Bickerstaff were the 

prosecutors.30 The prosecution didn’t charge Matthews with any crimes relating to sexual 

                                           
21 Attachment A, Master’s Report re: Formal Complaint No. 92 at 4. 
22 Johnson v Dep’t of Natural Resources, 310 Mich App 635, 649; 873 NW2d 842 2015; MRE 201. 
23 Vol. III, p. 691; Vol. IV, p. 1005. 
24 Vol. IV, p. 1005. 
25 In re Morrow, 496 Mich 291; 854 NW2d 89 (2014). 
26 Vol. IV, p. 1007. 
27 Id., p. 1009. 
28 Vol. III, p. 691. 
29 People v Matthews, Wayne County Circuit Court Case No. 18-7023-01-FC. 
30 Vol. I, pp. 31-32; Vol. II, p. 376. 
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activity but Matthews acknowledged to the police in 2003 that he had a sexual encounter 

with the victim before her death.31  

During voir dire, Judge Morrow used the example of his height to illustrate bias 

for the jury.32 He said, “I’m gonna say: The man was tall. I can almost guarantee 

everybody has a different height for tall. Because mine is 6’7”. And why is it 6’7”? Because 

I’m 6’4”. And our definitions are always personal. Nobody knows. But if I said the man 

was 6’7”, now you have the information. Now you can make your own conclusion.”33  

C. The prosecution’s 404(b) error 

Matthews was a difficult case for the prosecution. The homicide occurred 16 years 

before trial, one of the key witnesses had a checkered background, and the press was 

critical of the prosecution’s handling of the case.34 Media reported that the prosecutor’s 

office and the Detroit Police Department were trying to shift blame to each other.35  

One significant issue at trial involved “other acts” evidence under MRE 404(b). 

The prosecution wanted to introduce evidence that Matthews committed a 1999 homicide 

in addition to the 2003 homicide at issue.36 Judge Morrow excluded that evidence under 

MRE 404(b) at a pretrial hearing.37 The Court of Appeals issued an interlocutory ruling 

that allowed the prosecution to renew its attempt to admit this evidence at the close of 

                                           
31 Vol. I, p. 31. 
32 Vol. II, p. 415. 
33 Id., p. 482. 
34 Id., pp. 462-463. 
35 Id., p. 463. 
36 Vol. III, p. 757. 
37 Vol. I, p. 106. 
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the prosecutor’s case (or sooner).38 Ciaffone and Bickerstaff never renewed their Rule 

404(b) motion during their case-in-chief.39 They couldn’t do so through rebuttal witnesses 

because there was no testimony about those homicides to rebut.40 Ciaffone renewed the 

Rule 404(b) motion on the last day of trial and Judge Morrow denied it.41  

D. The prosecution’s reliance on disputed statements 

Another major issue concerned alleged statements from the defendant’s siblings. 

Emory Matthews, the defendant’s brother, supposedly told a police officer in 2005 that 

the defendant confessed to multiple homicides.42 By the time of trial, he refused to 

confirm his alleged 2005 statement.43 He was adamant that the 2005 report was inaccurate 

and he made the officer in charge, Lt. Derrick Griffin, aware of that fact before trial.44 The 

defendant’s sister also notified Lt. Griffin that she would not testify in a manner 

consistent with statements attributed to her in police reports.45  

Lt. Griffin told Ciaffone or Bickerstaff that the defendant’s siblings would not 

provide favorable testimony.46 The prosecution also had a chance to speak to Emory 

Matthews before trial.47 Bickerstaff acknowledged learning that the defendant’s siblings 

denied their previous statements, but she couldn’t recall when.48 Nevertheless, Ciaffone 

                                           
38 Vol. III, p. 757. 
39 Vol. I, p. 279. 
40 Id., p. 283. 
41 Id., p. 283. 
42 Id., p. 190; Vol. II, p. 498-99. 
43 Vol. III, p. 760. 
44 Id. 
45 Id., p. 761-762. 
46 Id., p. 763. 
47 Vol. II, pp. 465, 501-02. 
48 Id., p. 502. 
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told the jury in her opening statement that Emory Matthews would testify that James 

Matthews admitted to two homicides.49 She acknowledged that her only basis for making 

that statement about two more homicides was Emory Matthews’s alleged statements—

which he denied making.50 Moreover, the court had suppressed any reference to the other 

homicide when it denied the prosecution’s motion under MRE 404(b).51 The prosecution’s 

reliance on testimony that they knew Emory Matthews would not provide was a 

significant misstep in a high-profile trial—and it was highly prejudicial to Matthews.  

E. The prosecution’s struggles with basic trial mechanics 

Throughout the trial, the prosecution violated basic procedures and needed 

reminders from Judge Morrow about how to form proper arguments and questions. 

During her opening statement, for example, Ciaffone warned the jury against “red 

herrings.”52 As Ciaffone’s co-counsel testified, that kind of argument is improper in an 

opening statement.53 Judge Morrow had to stop Ciaffone and remind her not to do that.54 

Ciaffone acknowledged that Judge Morrow was correct to stop her from being 

argumentative in her opening statement.55  

The prosecution ran into trouble again when Ciaffone examined the defendant’s 

neighbor. This witness—who was supposed to perform the key task of identifying the 

                                           
49 Vol. I, p. 190; Vol. II, p. 498-99. 
50 Id. 
51 Id., p. 190. 
52 Vol. I, p. 176. 
53 Vol. II, p. 507. 
54 Id., p. 178. 
55 Vol. I, p. 182. 
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defendant—only identified the defendant by saying, “I think that’s him.”56  

Then came another prosecution misstep. Ciaffone “confront[ed]” the neighbor 

with a transcript of his previous testimony, even though Masterson never said that he 

was unable to recall his previous testimony.57 Judge Morrow had to explain that Ciaffone 

was not refreshing the witness’s recollection properly.58 And he was right: even 

Bickerstaff acknowledged that Ciaffone’s attempt to “refresh” Masterson’s recollection 

was improper.59  

Ciaffone had repeated problems with leading questions, even after Judge Morrow 

corrected her.60 For example, when Camille Leak testified for the prosecution, Ciaffone 

used leading questions.61 As a result, Judge Morrow had to remind Ciaffone of the proper 

way to question a witness. Id. (That wasn’t the only issue with Leak. Her t-shirt said 

something like, “I don’t give a fuck.”62 When Noakes sought to highlight that language 

during his examination, Judge Morrow intervened and said, “That’s not relevant.”63).  

Bickerstaff had difficulties during the trial, too. When she conducted the direct 

examination of Officer Deborah Stinson, she began most of her questions with the word 

and.64 She had similar issues in other examinations.65 Judge Morrow told Bickerstaff to 

                                           
56 Vol. I, p. 184. 
57 Id., p. 200-201. 
58 Id., pp. 202-203. 
59 Vol. II, pp. 510-511. 
60 Id., p. 515-16. 
61 Vol. I, pp. 214-215. 
62 Vol. III, p. 873. 
63 Exhibit 5, June 11, 2019 transcript from Matthews trial, p. 39.  
64 Vol. I, p. 257; Vol. II, p. 542. 
65 Vol. I, p. 259, 261; Vol. II, p. 379-80. 
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“keep an eye on” that.66 The jury was absent when he made that comment.67  

Judge Morrow’s critiques were not one-sided.68 For example, he warned both sides 

about focusing on irrelevant issues69 and asking witnesses to repeat their testimony.70  

F. The prosecution’s unnecessary DNA evidence 

On top of these issues, the prosecution unnecessarily introduced a complicated 

issue involving DNA evidence. It called Kirk DeLeeuw, a forensic biologist with the 

Michigan State Police, to testify about Wayne County’s fifteen-year backlog in processing 

DNA evidence.71 Yet there was no need to complicate the prosecution’s case with this 

evidence. The defendant acknowledged that he had sexual intercourse with the victim.72 

He testified, “She was pregnant. She couldn’t have sex like we normally do because we 

didn’t want her to abort the baby, which is why she had the miscarriage the other time.”73 

During DeLeeuw’s testimony, Ciaffone raised the issue of a “rape kit,” although there 

was no allegation of rape in the case.74  

G. The hung verdict and case reassignment 

On June 13, 2019, the jury returned with a hung verdict and the court declared a 

mistrial.75 The prosecutor’s office soon filed a motion to disqualify Judge Morrow from 

                                           
66 Vol. II, p. 380. 
67 Id., p. 381. 
68 Vol. III, p. 872; Vol. I, pp. 46, 221. 
69 Id., p. 221. 
70 Vol. II, p. 523-24. 
71 Vol. I, pp. 239, 241, 244. 
72 Id., p. 299. 
73 Id., p. 300. 
74 Id., p. 242. 
75 Id., p. 80. 
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the retrial.76 The prosecutors didn’t serve the motion on Noakes, who was unaware if the 

court even held a hearing on the motion.77  

The case was reassigned to Judge Michael Hathaway, a visiting judge.78 The 

prosecution was able to re-assign other cases, too, including another case Ciaffone was 

handling.79 Attorney Gabi Silver testified that one of her cases was transferred from Judge 

Morrow to Judge Michael Hathaway without a hearing.80 She learned of the transfer 

through an email from Bickerstaff.81 It appeared that the prosecutor’s office was using the 

allegations about Judge Morrow to re-assign cases from Judge Morrow’s docket. In other 

words, they were “forum shopping.”82 And that forum shopping helped the prosecution: 

after the transfer in the Matthews case, Judge Hathaway granted the prosecution’s Rule 

404(b) motion in part.83  

H. Judge Morrow’s conversation with Bickerstaff 

Ciaffone asked Judge Morrow for feedback early in the trial,84 as she does in most 

of her cases.85 When Ciaffone asked Judge Morrow for feedback, he expressed doubt 

about her ability to accept feedback.86 Judge Morrow asked Bickerstaff if she thought 

                                           
76 Vol. I, p. 288. 
77 Vol. III, p. 893. 
78 Vol. I, p. 284-285. 
79 Id., p. 346. 
80 Vol. IV, p. 960, 976. 
81 Id. 
82 Id., p. 963. 
83 Vol. I, pp. 289, 350. 
84 Id., p. 35. 
85 Id., p. 36. 
86 Vol. II, p. 470. 



12 
 

Ciaffone could handle criticism, and Bickerstaff said yes.87 Bickerstaff also asked Judge 

Morrow for feedback during a recess on June 11, 2019.88 According to Bickerstaff’s June 

14, 2019 memo, Ciaffone decided to ask Judge Morrow for advice again after Bickerstaff 

told Ciaffone that “[Judge Morrow] had given [her] advice twice…”89  

On the second day of trial, June 11, 2019, Noakes asked for a recess to speak to his 

client.90 Ciaffone left the courtroom to use the restroom.91 Bickerstaff asked Judge 

Morrow for feedback about her direct examination of the medical examiner.92 She said 

something like, “Was that line of questioning any better?”93 Judge Morrow said 

Bickerstaff’s examination was better, but he had another critique for her.94 He stood up 

from the bench and said he would talk to Bickerstaff at counsel’s table because giving the 

critique from the bench might make her blush.95 Judge Morrow has a deep, booming, 

easy-to-overhear voice,96 and he was trying to minimize airing criticism in public.  

Judge Morrow sat at counsel’s table next to Bickerstaff, who was in the middle of 

three seats.97 Lt. Derrick Griffin of the Detroit Police Department sat to Bickerstaff’s left 

and Judge Morrow took the only vacant seat—the one to Bickerstaff’s right.98 Lt. Griffin 

                                           
87 Vol. II, pp. 471-72. 
88 Vol. II, p. 560. 
89 Exhibit 6, Bickerstaff memo. 
90 Vol. I, p. 41-40. 
91 Id., p. 42. 
92 Vol. III, p. 748. 
93 Vol. III, p. 700; Vol. II, p. 383-84. 
94 Vol. II, p. 385. 
95 Vol. III, p. 700. 
96 Id., p. 895. 
97 Vol. II, p. 383. 
98 Vol. I, p. 38. 
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was the officer in charge of the Matthews case.99 (Lt. Griffin’s rank was sergeant at the 

time of the underlying events.100)  

Prosecutors decide how to position chairs around their table.101 In this instance, 

the three chairs were all on one side of the table.102 And there was little space in the 

courtroom. As Ciaffone put it, “We were jam-packed.”103 The arms of the chairs were 

touching because that was the only way for all three chairs to fit behind the table.104 Judge 

Morrow sat at an appropriate distance from Bickerstaff and did not touch her.105  

Judge Morrow then illustrated the problem with Bickerstaff’s direct examination 

by using the development of intimate relationships as an analogy.106 He said something 

like, “When a man and a woman start to get close, what does that lead to?”107 Bickerstaff 

said she didn’t understand.108 After Judge Morrow repeated his question, Bickerstaff said, 

“Do you mean sex?”109 Judge Morrow said that foreplay leads to sex, and asked 

Bickerstaff, “[W]ould you want foreplay before or after sex?”110 Bickerstaff didn’t say 

anything in response.111 When he asked the question again, Bickerstaff answered, 

                                           
99 Vol. III, p. 756. 
100 Id., p. 747. 
101 Vol. III, p. 719. 
102 Id., p. 721; Vol. III, p. 749. 
103 Vol. I, p. 38. 
104 Id. 
105 Vol. III, pp. 721, 724. 
106 Vol. II, p. 386. 
107 Id., p. 386. 
108 Id. 
109 Id., p. 386. 
110 Id. 
111 Id. 
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“Before.”112 (Bickerstaff testified that it was unclear whether the “you” in Judge Morrow’s 

question was Bickerstaff herself or people in general.113 Judge Morrow meant the 

question as a general one.114)  

Judge Morrow stated that the climax of the medical examiner’s testimony is the 

cause and manner of death.115 He didn’t use the word “climax” in its sexual sense.116 He 

said something like, “You start with all the information from the report, all the testimony 

crescendos to the cause and manner of death, which is the sex of the testimony.”117 Judge 

Morrow said a lawyer should “tease the jury with the details of the examination.”118 This 

conversation lasted a few minutes.119 Bickerstaff maintained eye contact with Judge 

Morrow and he did the same with her.120 Lt. Griffin could easily hear the conversation.121  

The courtroom staff was present during this conversation.122 So was Joe Kurily, an 

attorney with the Wayne County Prosecutor’s Office.123 He watched some of the Matthews 

trial.124 During Bickerstaff’s conversation with Judge Morrow, he was about 10 feet 

away.125 Kurily didn’t overhear the conversation but he saw nothing unusual in Judge 

                                           
112 Vol. II, p. 386. 
113 Id., 387. 
114 Answer, ¶10. 
115 Vol. I, p. 45. 
116 Answer, ¶¶12-13. 
117 Id., ¶13. 
118 Id., ¶14. 
119 Vol. III, p. 704. 
120 Vol. II, p. 591-592. 
121 Vol. III, p. 751 
122 Id., p. 707. 
123 Id.,  p. 698. 
124 Id., p. 698-699. 
125 Id., p. 703. 
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Morrow or Bickerstaff’s conduct.126 Kurily testified that Judge Morrow would often talk 

to attorneys at counsel’s table.127   

Bickerstaff related some of the conversation to Ciaffone when she returned and 

then trial resumed.128 After trial ended for the day, Bickerstaff shared parts of the 

conversation with her officemate, Patrina Bergamo.129 She also told a supervisor, Pat 

Muscat, on the phone during her drive home.130  

I. The in-chambers discussion on June 12, 2019.  

Judge Morrow often speaks to attorneys about their performance at trial.131 When 

the jury was deliberating on June 12, 2019, Judge Morrow invited Ciaffone, Bickerstaff, 

and Noakes into his chambers.132 As Noakes testified, they were free to decline Judge 

Morrow’s invitation.133 The door to Judge Morrow’s chambers remained open during the 

conference.134 At the time, Noakes had a motion for directed verdict still pending.135 

Judge Morrow believed that Ciaffone had cited the wrong standard when responding to 

the motion.136 So when the attorneys walked into his chambers, he had a copy of the 

Michigan Court Rules for both Ciaffone and Noakes opened to the relevant rule.137 He 

                                           
126 Vol. III, p. 709. 
127 Id., p. 718. 
128 Vol. II, p. 391. 
129 Id., p. 392. 
130 Id., p. 393. 
131 Vol. III, p. 719-720. 
132 Vol. I, p. 50. 
133 Vol. III, p. 882. 
134 Id., p. 884. 
135 Vol. I, p. 52. 
136 Id., p. 52. 
137 Id., pp. 53, 327-28. 
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explained that Ciaffone had misstated the standard but that he didn’t want to embarrass 

her in court.138 Ciaffone admitted in these proceedings that she was unfamiliar with the 

directed-verdict rule.139  

Judge Morrow asked Ciaffone about admitting evidence that the defendant’s DNA 

was on the deceased victim’s vaginal swab.140 He pointed out that the prosecution had 

not charged Matthews with criminal sexual conduct, which made the evidence 

irrelevant.141 Ciaffone tried to convince him that the DNA evidence was relevant 

“because it showed that they had close, recent contact near in time to the homicide,” but 

Judge Morrow disagreed.142 Ciaffone testified that the conversation “went back and 

forth.”143 According to Ciaffone, Judge Morrow said, “All it shows is that they fucked. 

Like, that’s all it shows, that they fucked.”144 Judge Morrow doesn’t recall making this 

statement but did not contest that he did.145  

During this discussion, Ciaffone raised the defendant’s statement that he had 

“non-traditional sex” or “not normal sex” with the victim.146 That led to a conversation 

about what “non-traditional sex” means.147 Ciaffone said that “non-traditional sex” 

means something other than intercourse.148 This distinction mattered to the legal issues 

                                           
138 Vol. I, p. 53. 
139 Id., p. 54. 
140 Id., p. 55-56. 
141 Id. 
142 Id. at 56. 
143 Id., pp. 57, 334. 
144 Id., p. 57. 
145 Answer, ¶21. 
146 Vol. I, pp. 59, 296-97. 
147 Id. 
148 Id. 
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at hand because Ciaffone thought that Matthews’s statement was inconsistent with the 

DNA evidence in the victim’s vagina.149 Judge Morrow felt that Matthews’s statement 

was actually consistent with that evidence because, in his view, Matthews meant that 

they had what Judge Morrow called “doggy style” intercourse.150 Judge Morrow stated 

that Ciaffone’s view was the product of her own bias.151  

Ciaffone stated that Judge Morrow’s view was incorrect because Matthews stated 

that he “couldn’t penetrate [the victim] because she could have a miscarriage.”152 

According to Ciaffone, Judge Morrow laughed and said, “Oh, so like what—like, he [is] 

saying that, like, what he’s working with … was so big that it would cause a 

miscarriage[?]”153 Ciaffone testified that she took “what he’s working with” as a reference 

to the defendant’s genitals.154 She didn’t remember Judge Morrow using the word 

“dick.”155 Bickerstaff is the only person who testified that he said “dick.”156  

During the in-chambers conversation, Judge Morrow criticized Ciaffone’s voir 

dire as being too indirect.157 He had originally raised the issue during Ciaffone’s voir dire, 

asking her, “What is it that you really want to ask?”158 In chambers, he said something 

like, “If I want to have sex with someone on the first date, what do I ask them?”159 When 

                                           
149 Vol. I, pp. 58-59. 
150 Id., p. 60; Vol. III, p. 885. 
151 Id., p. 59-60. 
152 Id., p. 62. 
153 Id., p. 63. 
154 Id., p. 63. 
155 Id., p. 64. 
156 Vol. II, pp. 401-402. 
157 Vol. I, p. 66. 
158 Vol. II, p. 488. 
159 Vol. I, p. 66. 
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no one responded, Judge Morrow said, “I would ask them, ‘Have you ever had sex on a 

first date?’”160 Then he asked, “What’s the second question I would ask them?”161 Again, 

no one answered. Judge Morrow said, “I’d ask, ‘Would you have sex with me on a first 

date?’”162 He added, “You don’t ask questions like, ‘Do you want to get married?’ or ‘Do 

you want to have kids?’ Like, those things would come later. Right? So just ask the 

question you want to know.”163 The court then dismissed the jury for the day.164  

J. The post-conference discussion on June 12, 2019 

After the June 12, 2019 conversation in chambers, Ciaffone and Bickerstaff walked 

to counsel’s table to pack their things.165 Ciaffone was standing in front of the prosecutor’s 

table and Bickerstaff was standing behind a chair when Judge Morrow spoke to them.166 

Bickerstaff testified that both attorneys were standing behind the table.167 Judge Morrow 

asked Ciaffone how tall she was: “What are you, like, five-one or five-two?”168 Ciaffone 

said something like, “No, but I accept that, Judge.”169 Bickerstaff volunteered, “Judge, I’m 

five-three for context.”170 In response to this invitation to guess again, Judge Morrow then 

estimated Ciaffone’s height as four feet, ten inches. Ciaffone said that she’s “four-eleven 
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and a half.”171 Judge Morrow then asked if Ciaffone weighed around 105 pounds. 

Ciaffone said, “Judge, you’re not supposed to ask a girl her weight.”172  Then Judge 

Morrow asked Bickerstaff if she was 117 pounds.173  Bickerstaff said, “That’s very 

generous but, no, Judge.”174  Judge Morrow responded, “Well, I haven’t assessed you for 

muscle mass yet.”175   

Bickerstaff testified that, during this conversation, Judge Morrow “looked 

[Ciaffone] down and up once, and then he looked at [Bickerstaff] down and up once.”176 

When asked about how Judge Morrow looked at her, Ciaffone testified, “I think that the 

whole encounter with regards to the height and the weight situation was entirely 

improper, and you can toss in how he looked with his eyes as part of that whole thing.”177  

K. Bickerstaff and Ciaffone’s reports about Judge Morrow 

After the conversation on June 12, 2019, Bickerstaff and Ciaffone left the 

courtroom, and talked about Bickerstaff’s conversation with Judge Morrow during the 

elevator ride to their offices.178 Ciaffone told Bickerstaff not to tell anyone.179 In the 

hallway, however, Bickerstaff and Ciaffone ran into David Champine and Kurily, two 

other prosecutors, and they discussed their interactions with Judge Morrow.180 Champine 
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told them to report the conversation but Ciaffone resisted.181  

Bob Donaldson, a senior prosecutor, walked by and heard Bickerstaff and Ciaffone 

talking about the conversation with Judge Morrow.182 (Bickerstaff now claims that she 

got Donaldson’s attention, and that he didn’t join the conversation because he overheard 

it.183). Donaldson stated that someone needed to report the conversation.184 Donaldson 

took Ciaffone and Bickerstaff to see Jason Williams, the head of appeals in the 

prosecutor’s office.185 Bickerstaff also told Pat Muscat, Ciaffone’s boss.186 Muscat told 

Athina Siringas, the chief of special prosecution and Muscat’s boss.187  

After the trial, Siringas asked Ciaffone and Bickerstaff to write a memo on their 

interactions with Judge Morrow during the trial.188 Both Ciaffone and Bickerstaff wrote 

memos.189 Siringas asked Bickerstaff and Ciaffone to draft affidavits.190 Ciaffone executed 

an affidavit on June 27, 2019.191 Bickerstaff executed hers on the same date.192 She had the 

affidavit re-notarized on November 27, 2019.193  

L. Chief Bivens and Detective Kinney’s investigation 

James Bivens is the chief of investigations at the Wayne County Prosecutor’s 
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Office.194 He’s been in law enforcement for 43 years.195 At Prosecutor Kym Worthy’s 

direction, Chief Bivens began to investigate the matter.196 After doing some of his own 

interviews, Chief Bivens assigned JoAnn Kinney, a retired homicide investigator, to 

interview witnesses and prepare a report.197  

Detective Kinney interviewed Ciaffone and Bickerstaff separately.198 At the 

conclusion of her investigation, Detective Kinney called Ciaffone and Bickerstaff into her 

office and asked them to review “Q&A” summaries that she drafted based on their 

interviews.199 When Bickerstaff and Ciaffone walked out of Detective Kinney’s office, 

Bickerstaff told Ciaffone “that there was a mistake in hers.”200 Bickerstaff appeared to be 

concerned.201 Ciaffone told Bickerstaff to go back and tell Detective Kinney.202 But 

Bickerstaff said she was “nervous” and didn’t want to go back into Detective Kinney’s 

office.203 Ciaffone told her, “[Y]ou’ve got to go back in there[.]”204 Bickerstaff didn’t tell 

Ciaffone what the mistake was. Bickerstaff did not go back into Detective Kinney’s office 

and did not point out the error. In fact, she never notified her superiors of any error in 

the statement she signed.205 Ciaffone felt no obligation to address the error either.206  
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Detective Kinney testified that, when she asked what Bickerstaff thought Judge 

Morrow was trying to do, Bickerstaff said, “I know what he was trying to do.”207 Under 

oath, however, Bickerstaff confessed that she “does not know why Judge Morrow said 

the things he said to her.”208  

Detective Kinney gave her Q&A statements and her notes to Chief Bivens.209 Chief 

Bivens found some handwritten notes from Detective Kinney.210 Those notes indicate that 

Bickerstaff said, “I know what he was trying to do.”211 Detective Kinney produced to the 

Judicial Tenure Commission notes written in part by Det. Kinney and in part by Chief 

Bivens. Chief Bivens had written, “She felt that he was trying to hit on her in an around 

about way, felt it was improper for a judge to be discussing sex with her regarding a 

homicide trial.”212 Detective Kinney’s Q&A sheet has never been produced.213 

M. Bickerstaff’s false allegation 

Chief Bivens submitted a report about Bickerstaff and Ciaffone’s conversations 

with Judge Morrow to Kym Worthy, the elected prosecutor.214 Chief Bivens’s report 

repeated Bickerstaff’s false statement that she “felt Judge Morrow was trying to hit on 

her…”215 Chief Bivens also testified that Bickerstaff told him that she felt Judge Morrow 
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was trying to hit on her.216  

Given Chief Bivens’s testimony, Bickerstaff lied under oath when she testified that 

she never told anyone that Judge Morrow hit on her.217 Bickerstaff also lied to 

Disciplinary Counsel by stating that she had not seen Chief Bivens’s report before—an 

attempt to excuse her lie about Judge Morrow “hitting on” her.218 When placed under 

oath, Bickerstaff admitted that she did, in fact, review Chief Bivens’s report.219 She also 

testified that she noticed the false statement about Judge Morrow “trying to hit on her.”220 

But Bickerstaff never told Chief Bivens that there was an error in his report.221  

Chief Bivens told Bickerstaff and Ciaffone that he would forward the report to 

Prosecutor Worthy.222 Bickerstaff knew that Prosecutor Worthy would rely on the 

report.223 Still, she didn’t correct the misstatement.224 In fact, she testified that she gave 

the matter no more thought.225  

N. Underlying proceedings 

This Commission authorized Disciplinary Counsel to prepare a formal complaint 

against Judge Morrow and “directed that it be filed.”226 Disciplinary Counsel filed that 

complaint in August 2020, alleging three counts. Count One alleges “inappropriate use 
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of sexually graphic language”—specifically, Judge Morrow’s analogy for a direct 

examination when talking to Bickerstaff. Count Two alleged more “sexually graphic 

language,” including Judge Morrow’s skeptical comment about Matthews’s testimony, 

his comments about asking a date if they would have sex on the first date, and his 

discussion of Matthews’s testimony about “non-traditional sex.”  In Count Three, the 

Commission alleged that Judge Morrow committed misconduct by asking Ciaffone and 

Bickerstaff about their height and weight.  

After a five-day evidentiary hearing, the Master concluded that Disciplinary 

Counsel established misconduct by a preponderance of the evidence. For Count One, the 

Master concluded that Judge Morrow committed misconduct by sitting next to 

Bickerstaff and engaging in “unnecessary and inappropriate sexual dialogue.”227 This 

conduct, according to the Master, violated Michigan Code of Judicial Conduct Canon 

2(B), 3(A)(14), and 3(A)(3).  For Count Two, the Master found “inappropriate use of 

sexually graphic language” in Judge Morrow’s “analogizing voir dire to asking for sex 

on a first date,” referring to Ciaffone’s sexual experience, and his alleged comment about 

“the size of the defendant’s genitalia[.]”228 The Master also faulted Judge Morrow for 

using the word “fuck.”229 The Master concluded that this conduct violated the canons 

listed above. Finally, for Count Three, the Master concluded that Judge Morrow 

improperly asked about Ciaffone and Bickerstaff’s height and weight. This conduct, the 
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Master concluded, violated Canon 3(A)(14) and Canon 3(A)(3).  

Standard of Review 

This Commission is “vested with the responsibility of determining whether to 

recommend to [the Michigan Supreme] Court that a judge be disciplined…”230 

Accordingly, it reviews the Master’s findings of fact and conclusions of law de novo.231  

To recommend discipline for a judge, this Commission must find that the judge 

was convicted of a felony, is subject to a physical or mental disability that “prevents 

performance of judicial duties,” or is guilty of one of the following: “misconduct in office, 

persistent failure to perform his duties, habitual intemperance or conduct that is clearly 

prejudicial to the administration of justice.”232 The Michigan Court Rules provide that 

“misconduct in office includes but is not limited to 

a. persistent incompetence in the performance of judicial duties; 
 

b. persistent neglect in the timely performance of judicial duties; 
 

c. persistent failure to treat persons fairly and courteously; 
 

d. treatment of a person unfairly or discourteously because of 
the person's race, gender, or other protected personal 
characteristic; 
 

e. misuse of judicial office for personal advantage or gain, or for 
the advantage or gain of another; and 
 

f. failure to cooperate with a reasonable request made by the 
commission in its investigation of a judge.233 
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Disciplinary Counsel must prove that judicial discipline is warranted under these rules 

by a preponderance of the evidence.234  

Argument 1: Due Process 

One of the most significant legal issues in this case is one that the Commission 

cannot reach: the Commission’s structure is unconstitutional under Williams. Only the 

Michigan Supreme Court can declare its own rules unconstitutional,235 so Judge Morrow 

offers these arguments here to preserve them. (The Court previously denied a petition to 

consider this issue on an interlocutory basis in October 2020.)  

1.1 Judge Morrow is entitled to due process. 

Under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, no state may 

“deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law[.]”236 This 

due-process right protects public employees who are subject to termination only for 

cause.237 Michigan’s constitution provides that the Michigan Supreme Court can remove 

a judge only “for conviction of a felony, physical or mental disability which prevents the 

performance of judicial duties, misconduct in office, persistent failure to perform his 

duties, habitual intemperance or conduct that is clearly prejudicial to the administration 

of justice.”238 Consequently, a Michigan judge is subject to removal only for cause.  

It follows that a judge is entitled to due process before suspension or removal.239 
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As the Michigan Supreme Court held in In re Chrzanowski (2001), “It is uncontroverted 

that judges, like all other citizens, have protected due process interests under the … Due 

Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution.”240 

The United States Supreme Court has held that an impartial decision-maker is one 

of the most basic components of due process.241 Judge Morrow is therefore entitled to 

impartial decision-makers in this judicial-discipline proceeding.   

1.2 A single person cannot be both prosecutor and judge.  

In Williams v Pennsylvania (2016),242 the U.S. Supreme Court addressed a case in 

which the petitioner, Terrance Williams, was originally tried for homicide. At trial, the 

prosecutor contacted a supervisor for permission to seek the death penalty.243 This 

supervisor—then-district attorney Ronald Castille—authorized pursuit of the death 

penalty with a short note at the bottom of a memo. Fast forward thirty years, and Castille 

was the Chief Justice of the Pennsylvania Supreme Court.244 When Williams’s post-

conviction challenge to the death penalty made its way to that court, Williams asked 

Castille to recuse himself. Castille refused, and his court reinstated the death penalty.  

The United States Supreme Court held that Castille’s participation was 

unconstitutional: “[U]nder the Due Process Clause[,] there is an impermissible risk of 

actual bias when a judge earlier had significant, personal involvement as a prosecutor in 
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a critical decision regarding the defendant’s case.”245 The Court noted that “[d]ue process 

guarantees ‘an absence of actual bias’ on the part of a judge.”246 Because it can be hard to 

tell when a decision-maker is biased, the Court adopted “an objective standard that, in 

the usual case, avoids having to determine whether actual bias is present.”247 Under this 

test, the question is “whether, as an objective matter, the average judge in [their] position 

is likely to be neutral, or whether there is an unconstitutional potential for bias.”248 There 

is an unconstitutional risk of bias “when the same person serves as both accuser and 

adjudicator in a case.”249  

This standard precludes a judge from participating in a case when they made a 

“critical decision” in that case as a prosecutor.250 There are sound psychological reasons 

for this rule. When a judge adjudicates a matter in which they participated as prosecutor, 

there is “a risk that the judge would be so psychologically wedded to [their] previous 

position as prosecutor that the judge would consciously or unconsciously avoid the 

appearance of having erred or changed position.”251  

Turning to Castille’s involvement in Williams’s case, the U.S. Supreme Court held 

that Castille’s role in the “critical choice” to seek the death penalty was enough to make 

his participation as chief justice unconstitutional.252 This due-process violation was so 
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serious that it amounted to structural error and precluded harmless-error analysis.253 

Having violated Williams’s constitutional rights in his initial hearing, the state was 

required to rehear the case—without Castille.254  

1.3 Withrow is not applicable because it addresses judges involved in 
investigation, not judges involved in prosecutorial decision-making.  

Williams contrasts with another strand in the U.S. Supreme Court’s jurisprudence. 

Withrow v Larkin (1975) is typical of this second strand.255 There, a Wisconsin board of 

physicians concluded that the plaintiff, a Michigan doctor, engaged in “proscribed acts” 

while performing abortions in Wisconsin.256 The plaintiff had a reciprocal license to 

practice medicine in Wisconsin. After holding an investigative hearing, the board 

recommended that the Milwaukee County District Attorney file a complaint to revoke 

the plaintiff’s license and initiate criminal proceedings. The plaintiff argued that this 

system was unconstitutional because the board was both investigator and adjudicator.257 

The U.S. Supreme Court disagreed, holding than an administrative agency may combine 

investigative and adjudicative functions.258 The Court saw little risk that investigating the 

facts would lead a board member to form a particular view of the facts.259  

Williams and Withrow establish a spectrum, as Wright & Miller’s treatise on federal 

practice explains.260 On one end are cases like Withrow, in which a judge previously 
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served in an investigatory role. Under Withrow, the Due Process Clause does not prohibit 

serving as investigator and then serving as judge in the same case.261 “[A]s investigation 

veers into something more like prosecution,” however, “a combination of functions will 

grow more problematic.”262 When a judge participated in a key prosecutorial decision, as 

in Williams, the combination of functions is so problematic that it is a structural error.263  

1.4 Michigan’s judicial-discipline system is unconstitutional .  

The Michigan Supreme Court created a three-tiered system for review of judicial-

discipline matters. First, the Court appoints a master to conduct a hearing and issue a 

recommendation to the Commission.264 The Commission hears objections to the master’s 

report.265 Then the Commission issues its decision.266 Its decision must include “written 

findings of fact and conclusions of law, along with its recommendations for action…”267 

Although the Commission may accept the master’s conclusions, it is not required to do 

so.268 A party who disputes the Commission’s findings may submit the matter to the 

Michigan Supreme Court.269 The Court reviews the record and then issues its opinion.270  

Under this scheme, the Commission is one of the key decision-makers in the 

adjudication of judicial-discipline proceedings. Yet it also decides whether to file a 
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complaint in the first place. To begin formal proceedings before a master, the Commission 

itself must file a complaint under the Michigan Court Rules.271 At that time, the only 

prosecutor is the Commission itself, as the Michigan Court Rules recognize: “If the 

commission issues a complaint, it shall appoint the executive director or another attorney to 

act as disciplinary counsel.”272 The charges, as well as the initial assessment of whether 

those charges warrant discipline, come from the Commission.273 It is only after the 

Commission’s charging decision that the Commission’s executive director or outside 

counsel takes over as prosecutor.  

There can be no doubt about the Commission’s significant involvement in the 

decision to file a complaint against Judge Morro. The complaint itself states that the 

Commission “authorized this compliant” and “directed that it be filed.”274 With this brief, 

Judge Morrow must present arguments to the Commission about allegations that the 

Commission itself directed Disciplinary Counsel to file. The parties who decide to charge 

a judge with misconduct later issue findings of fact and conclusions of law about whether 

disciplinary counsel proved those charges.275 This combination of functions is 

unconstitutional under Williams.276  

True, the Michigan Supreme Court previously rejected constitutional challenges 

to Michigan’s judicial-discipline system. But each case upholding Michigan’s judicial-
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discipline system precedes Williams and is out-of-step with current law.277 Moreover, 

each case addresses the combination of investigatory powers and adjudicatory powers. 

That combination implicates Withrow and does not violate the Due Process Clause. The 

issue here is the combination of prosecutorial decision-making and adjudicatory powers. 

That combination does implicate Williams and does violate the Due Process Clause.  

These earlier opinions also err in concluding that any constitutional error in the 

Commission’s structure is irrelevant because the Michigan Supreme Court ultimately 

imposes discipline. Williams expressly rejects the argument that a judge’s conflict is 

permissible just because a judge is not the deciding vote: “…[T]he Court holds that an 

unconstitutional failure to recuse constitutes structural error even if the judge in question 

did not cast a deciding vote.”278 The Commission may not have the deciding vote. But it 

issues findings of fact and conclusions of law. That is a structural error; the Court’s 

oversight cannot cure it. The only solution is for the Michigan Supreme Court to vacate 

the entire proceeding, fix the Commission’s unconstitutional structure, and start over.  

Argument 2: In-Person Hearing 

The Commission cannot address the constitutional error in its structure. But it can 

address the Master’s failure to hold the in-person hearing required under the Michigan 

Court Rules.   

Courts must apply the plain language of court rules, just as they must apply the 
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plain language of statutes.279 In Ligons v Crittenton Hosp (2011), the Michigan Supreme 

Court wrote, “Our goal when interpreting and applying statutes or court rules is to give 

effect to the plain meaning of the text. If the text is unambiguous, we apply the language 

as written without construction or interpretation.”280 

The relevant court rule here is Michigan Court Rule 9.231(B), which states that 

“[t]he master shall set a time and a place for the hearing ….”281 Shall means that the rule is 

mandatory. That conclusion follows from cases like People v Lockridge (2015),282 in which 

the Michigan Supreme Court held that the word shall marks a mandatory directive. And 

place refers to a physical location. When used as a noun, place means either “a particular 

portion of space, whether of definite or indefinite extent” or “space in general.”283 The 

Supreme Court obviously didn’t direct masters to designate “space in general” as a 

location for judicial-tenure hearings. So there’s only one valid reading of Rule 9.231(B): 

the master must designate a physical location (“a particular portion of space”) for the 

hearing.284 That eliminated the possibility of a Zoom hearing, since Zoom is a computer 

program, not a place. A virtual hearing does not satisfy Rule 9.231(B). 

The pandemic was no justification for departing from the plain text of this rule. 

Chapter 9.200 of the Michigan Court Rules includes three principles for interpreting the 

rules governing judicial discipline. First, the rules “shall be construed to preserve the 
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integrity of the judicial system.”285 Preserving the integrity of the judicial system requires 

applying the governing rules evenly, to everyone, and at all times. Second, the rules must 

be interpreted “to enhance public confidence in that [judicial] system.”286 The public will 

certainly lose confidence in the judiciary if tribunals can simply decline to apply a 

governing rule. Third, the rules must be construed “to protect the public, the courts, and 

the rights of the judges who are governed by these rules in the most expeditious manner that 

is practicable and fair.”287 To preserve Judge Morrow’s rights and to hold a fair hearing, 

the Master should have applied the rules as written—including Rule 9.231(B). 

Expedience is no excuse for denying an in-person hearing. Indeed, it was possible 

under the Department of Health and Human Services’ order to hold an in-person hearing 

on the complaint against Judge Morrow. The Master only had to limit attendance to 20 

people per 1,000 square feet and require people to wear facemasks. The Master could 

have excused people from the facemask requirement when they were testifying, since the 

Department’s order excused people when they were “giving a speech … to an audience, 

provided that the audience is at least six feet away from the speaker.”288 In fact, before 

the hearing began, the Michigan Supreme Court endorsed relaxing facemask 

requirements for witnesses in its.289 Placing clear plastic shields on the bench and witness 

                                           
285 MCR 9.200. 
286 Id. 
287 Id. (emphasis added). 
288 Emergency Order under MCL 333.2253—Gathering Prohibition and Mask Order, available at 

https://bit.ly/34vxWvP (last visited October 7, 2020), at 3-4. 
289 See Return to Full Capacity: COVID-19 Guidelines for Michigan’s Judiciary https://courts. 

michigan.gov/News-Events/Documents/ReturntoFullCapacityGuide.pdf (last visited 
September 29, 2020), at 5). 



35 
 

box would have provided further protection without compromising the Master’s ability 

to assess credibility.  

Being deprived of the protections of the Michigan Court Rules is injury enough. 

But it’s important to note that there is a significant difference between a virtual hearing 

and an in-person hearing when it comes to assessing credibility. Through Zoom, the 

Court can view witnesses’ faces—but nothing else. It cannot see their twitchy feet, 

nervous hand gestures, or anxious movements in the witness boxes. It cannot see if 

witness are looking at notes off-screen. It cannot see if witnesses are getting signals from 

other people. All of those things would be visible at an in-person hearing with clear 

plastic shields protecting the witness and judge.  

A Zoom hearing therefore takes some critical tools away from the factfinder. As a 

federal court in New York recently explained, “… [A] virtual hearing would present 

significant challenges in being able to adequately perform the critical credibility 

assessments that this matter requires …”290 Of course, wearing masks would inhibit fact-

finding—but many Michigan courtrooms are now equipped with clear, plastic shields 

before the bench and witness box. These measures would have obviated the need to wear 

a mask while testifying. So it was possible to use the full range of fact-finding tools 

available in an in-person hearing, while still observing the social-distancing practices that 

slow the spread of COVID-19.  

The Master should have applied the plain language of Michigan Court Rule 
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9.231(B) and held an in-person hearing. By failing to do so, the Master deprived Judge 

Morrow of his rights under the Michigan Court Rules.  

Argument 3: Hocking 

Judge Morrow is entitled to a new hearing because of the Commission’s 

unconstitutional structure and because the Master failed to apply the plain language of 

MCR 9.231(B). If the Commission declines to order a new hearing, it should address the 

significant error in the Master’s analysis: it fails to apply the Michigan Supreme Court’s 

controlling opinion in Matter of Hocking (1996).291  

Hocking addressed a judge’s interactions with two female attorneys and his 

comments during sentencing in a criminal-sexual-conduct case. Judge Hocking presided 

over a case in which an attorney was accused of sexually assaulting a client during a 2 

a.m. visit to her apartment. While justifying a downward deviation from sentencing 

guidelines, Judge Hocking made a series of crude and insensitive comments.292 He found 

mitigating factors such as the fact that the defendant “helped the victim up off the floor 

after the occurrence,” that the defendant wore the victim down through persistence 

rather than force, that the “victim asked for it,” and that the victim allowed the defendant 

to visit her home at 2:00 a.m.293 The judge’s boorish and grossly inappropriate comments 

on the bench included this one:  

This is not a perfect world, but as common sense tells me that 
when a man calls a woman at 2:00 a.m. and says he wants to 
come over and talk and he’s—that’s accepted, a reasonable 
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person, whether you want to shake your head or not Ms. 
Maas [the prosecutor], I haven’t been living in a shell. A 
reasonable person understands that means certain things. 
They may be wrong.[294]  

Judge Hocking lost his temper with the prosecutor after she objected to his 

downward departure.295 In another instance, he had a “caustic and abusive exchange” 

with an attorney who objected to his imposition of sanctions.296 He was accused of 

abusing his contempt power, too. (There was also an allegation about his alleged misuse 

of the attorney-grievance process. The Michigan Supreme Court found nothing improper 

about Judge Hocking’s request for investigation.297)  

The Michigan Supreme Court held that Judge Hocking’s inappropriate comments 

during sentencing were not judicial misconduct. They were “tasteless and undoubtedly 

offensive to the sensibilities of many citizens.”298 But they were “not explicitly abusive” 

and did not “evidence persistent misconduct.”299 The Court explained that “every 

graceless, distasteful, or bungled attempt to communicate the reason for a judge’s 

decision cannot serve as the basis for judicial discipline.”300 The Court said it was 

“committed to eradicating sexual stereotypes” but could not “ignore the cost of censoring 

inept expressions of opinion.”301  

Likewise, the Court concluded that Judge Hocking did not commit misconduct in 
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his interactions with the prosecutor who objected to the downward departure.302 

Although “courtesy was lost and rudeness took over,” his conduct was not “clearly 

prejudicial to the administration of justice.”303 Judge Hocking’s interactions with the 

other attorney crossed a line: Judge Hocking showed “a total lack of self-control and an 

antagonistic mind-set predisposed to unfavorable disposition.”304 As for the suggestion 

that Judge Hocking showed gender bias because both attorneys who drew his ire were 

women, the Michigan Supreme Court held: “The fact that attorneys Mass and Sharp are 

both women and both happen to have been the object to the respondent’s anger does not 

evidence a discriminatory pattern.”305  

Applying Hocking leads to the conclusion that Judge Morrow did not commit 

misconduct. (Judge Morrow raised Hocking below but the Master didn’t address it).  

3.1 Judge Morrow’s analogy for a direction examination 

Judge Morrow did compare a direct examination to a romantic relationship that 

leads to sex when talking with Bickerstaff. He was not “hitting on” her, as Bickerstaff 

falsely claimed, and there is no evidence that he had any intent other than a pedagogical 

one. He also used the analogy of asking a date about having sex when talking to Ciaffone, 

Bickerstaff, and Noakes. So the question is whether these analogies—comparing an 

examination to a romantic relationship that leads to sex and comparing voir dire 

questions to inquiries about sex—are judicial misconduct. They are not. Even if the 
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Commission views Judge Morrow’s analogy as “distasteful,” Hocking holds that “every 

graceless, distasteful, or bungled attempt to communicate the reason for a judge’s 

decision cannot serve as the basis for judicial discipline.”306 

Moreover, Judge Morrow’s comments are hardly out-of-step with other analogies 

that judges, lawyers, and legal scholars employ. Sex is a common metaphor, even in 

judicial writing and in bar journals. For example, many judges and legal commentators 

explain their opposition to footnotes by citing Noel Coward’s observation that 

“[e]ncountering [a footnote] is like going downstairs to answer the doorbell while making 

love.’”307 One judge compared medical-malpractice legislation to “a mule—the bastard 

offspring of intercourse among lawyers, legislators, and lobbyists, having no pride of 

ancestry and no hope of posterity.”308 Another federal judge compared pretrial procedure 

to “foreplay.”309 An article in the New York State Bar Journal referred to “contractual 

foreplay.”310 A continuing-education speaker in Texas “often describes the subject of his 

speech as ‘real sex’ while whatever insignificant processes come before are merely 

‘foreplay.’”311 Again and again, sex pops up in legal analogies. 

                                           
306 Hocking, 451 Mich at 12. 
307 See, e.g., Ledet v Seasafe, Inc, 783 So.2d 611 (La. Ct. App. 2011) (Woodward, J., concurring). See 
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from the Trenches, 14 J. App. Prac. & Process 303, 312 n 30 (2013); Jack L. Ladau, Footnote Folly, 
67-Nov Or. St. B. Bull. 19, 22 (2006); Kenneth Lasson, Scholarship Amok: Excesses in the Pursuit of 
Truth and Tenure, 103 Harv. L. Rev. 926, 940 (1990); Gerald Lebovits, Do’s Don’ts, and Maybes: 
Usage Controversies—Part II, 80-Aug NYSTBJ 64 (2008). 
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Adversary System, 10 Wis. Women's L.J. 225, 240–41 (1995). 
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So, too, in Michigan. In a 2004 law-review article, Michigan Supreme Court Justice 

Young compared the common law to “a drunken, toothless ancient relative, sprawled 

prominently and in a state of nature on a settee in the middle of one’s genteel garden 

party.”312 He later asserted that “some jurists like Justice Cardozo actually celebrate 

Grandpa and his condition and enthusiastically urge all of us to relax, undress, and join 

Grandpa in his inebriated communion with nature.”313 The image of a naked old man 

inviting others to disrobe is undeniably lewd—yet Justice Young concluded that it served 

a pedagogical purpose. The Michigan Supreme Court evidently agreed, since it cited this 

article in Henry v Dow Chemical Co (2005).314  

Some—like late Michigan Supreme Court Justice Elizabeth Weaver—found the 

image of a naked old man encouraging others to disrobe to be so inappropriate that she 

refused to join an opinion that cited the article.315 This debate at the state’s highest court 

teaches two important lessons. First, sometimes adults—including judges—use 

somewhat crude analogies to make a point. Second, reasonable minds can disagree about 

the line between a vivid, albeit off-color, metaphor (a la Noel Coward’s oft-repeated 

statement about footnotes) and an analogy that is truly unfit for adult conversation. Judge 

Morrow’s metaphor—which focused more on a romantic relationship than the act of 

sexual intercourse—is on the “vivid, albeit off-color” side of that line. Under Hocking, it 
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was not judicial misconduct.  

3.2 Judge Morrow’s use of the word “fucked” was not misconduct. 

Judge Morrow doesn’t remember using the word “fucked” during his in-chambers 

conversation with Ciaffone, Bickerstaff, and Noakes, but he admitted that he probably 

said something along those lines.316 Certainly, vulgarity on the bench may be judicial 

misconduct when it suggests favoritism or prejudgment. In Matter of Frankel (1982),317 the 

Michigan Supreme Court censured a judge who insulted an attorney in court as follows: 

“Now, the question is, am I still dispassionate in the case? And I’m not sure that I am, 

now, Mr. Henry. I’m not sure that I haven’t come to a conclusion that whether your client 

is guilty or innocent, you’re a despicable son-of-a-bitch.”318  

Unlike the respondent in Frankel, Judge Morrow was not on the bench when he 

said “fucked.” And the Commission should not police a judge’s use of curse words in off-

the-bench speech. Although this disciplinary matter is not a First Amendment case, the 

United States Supreme Court’s warning in Cohen v California (1971), a First Amendment 

case, applies here, too.319 Cohen concerned a t-shirt that said, “Fuck the Draft.”320 In 

upholding a constitutional challenge to the law that ostensibly prohibited that t-shirt, the 

Court explained that eliminating the word fuck from public discourse could cause trouble: 

Surely the State has no right to cleanse public debate to the 
point where it is grammatically palatable to the most 
squeamish among us. Yet no readily ascertainable general 
principle exists for stopping short of that result were we to 
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affirm the judgment below. For, while the particular four-
letter word being litigated here is perhaps more distasteful 
than most others of its genre, it is nevertheless often true that 
one man’s vulgarity is another’s lyric. Indeed, we think it is 
largely because governmental officials cannot make 
principled distinctions in this area that the Constitution 
leaves matters of taste and style so largely to the 
individual.[321] 

The Court also noted that “must linguistic expression serves a dual communicative 

function: it conveys not only ideas capable of relatively precise, detached explication, but 

otherwise inexpressible emotions as well.”322 “In fact,” the Court added, “words are often 

chosen as much for their emotive as their cognitive force.”323  

Again, this isn’t a First Amendment case. But Cohen’s rationale overlaps with 

Hocking’s rule against treating “distasteful” comments as judicial misconduct, for fear of 

inhibiting the expression of ideas.324 And both cases pose a serious challenge to any 

attempt to discipline a judge based on the use of taboo words. If fuck is off-limits for 

judges, what about other taboo words? Will Michigan taxpayers see their money spent 

on disciplinary actions involving a judge’s use of hell or damn? If not, what exactly is the 

difference between these words and fuck? And does context matter? Is it okay for a judge 

to say fuck when stubbing their toe, but not when talking to a prosecutor in chambers? Is 

it okay for a judge to use damn when talking about Goethe’s Faust but not when 

discussing the Tigers blowing a lead?  
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It may be tempting to say that Judge Morrow’s use of the word fuck was over the 

line and the Commission need not concern itself with what else may amount to 

misconduct. When the subject is speech, however, no tribunal has the luxury of limiting 

itself to the facts of the case before it. Rules that prohibit certain speech can have a chilling 

effect—and, as Cohen makes clear, sweeping taboo words into the dustpan may sweep 

ideas away, too. Society benefits from more speech, not less.325  

These principles apply with special force in the context of a criminal trial. 

Michigan’s appellate courts have noted that “defending criminal cases is not for the faint 

of heart.”326 Criminal proceedings involve some of the most difficult subjects—murder, 

criminal sexual conduct, and the like—and those proceedings take place in high-stress, 

high-volume dockets. Lawyers and judges should not have to walk on eggshells when 

discussing these issues.  

In short, democracy requires tolerance for offensive speech, and that tolerance is 

especially necessary in the context of criminal matters. And, as Cohen shows, policing 

taboo words can do more harm than good. The Commission should therefore conclude 

that Judge Morrow’s use of the word fuck was not misconduct.  

3.3 Judge Morrow’s offhand expression of skepticism at the defendant’s 
statement was not misconduct. 

Judge Morrow doesn’t remember saying anything like “how big does this guy 

think he is?” when Ciaffone raised James Matthews’s testimony about not having 
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“normal” sex.327 But William Noakes credibly testified about this comment, noting that 

Judge Morrow was just making the point that the defendant was exaggerating.328 As 

noted above, Judge Morrow did not use the word “dick.” (Only Bickerstaff, whose lies 

are well-documented, attested to that fact.) Again, Noakes provided credible testimony 

on this point: “I don’t remember him using the word ‘dick.’ And I think the conversation 

was how big does he think he is, and I think that was the extent of it.”329 When 

Disciplinary Counsel tried to twist Noakes’s testimony into evidence of something more 

malicious, Noakes was firm and confident that Judge Morrow “was saying that the 

defendant exaggerated.”  

Judge Morrow’s offhand expression of skepticism at Matthews’s testimony was 

not judicial misconduct. It was related to the case, since the prosecution was making an 

issue about what exactly Matthews meant by “normal” sex. If Judge Morrow’s comment 

was too blunt, then it was, at worst, the kind of “graceless, distasteful, or bungled” 

statement that “cannot serve as the basis for judicial discipline” under Hocking.330  

3.4 Judge Morrow’s inquiries about height and weight were not 
misconduct. 

Finally, there are Judge Morrow’s inquiries to Ciaffone and Bickerstaff about how 

tall they are and how much they weigh. Judge Morrow admitted from the outset that he 

asked those questions.331 Asking someone their height or weight is not judicial 
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misconduct. It may be impolite. But Hocking makes it clear that the Code of Judicial 

Conduct is not about policing good manners: “The comments were tasteless and 

undoubtedly offensive to the sensibilities of many citizens. They do not display a mindset 

unable to render a fair judgment.”332  

The attempt to sexualize Judge Morrow’s questions—particularly the unfounded 

allegation about “overtly eyeing”—should be rejected. There was no evidence that Judge 

Morrow had any sort of illicit motive in asking these questions. Attorney Jeffrey Edison 

testified that he had never observed Judge Morrow “overtly eyeing” anyone.333 Attorney 

Steven Fishman testified that he has never seen Judge Morrow be discourteous or 

disrespectful to anyone, male or female.334 This testimony from two of Michigan’s most 

well-respected attorneys should weigh heavily against the attempt to sexualize a 

conversation that had nothing sexual about it. According to the standard jury 

instructions, “Evidence of good character alone may sometimes create a reasonable 

doubt” in a criminal trial.335 This evidence of Judge Morrow’s good character belies 

Disciplinary Counsel’s characterization of Judge Morrow’s questions.   

Indeed, Judge Morrow’s innocuous questions became sexualized only when 

Bickerstaff began lying about them. Again, the specter of racism rears its head here. 

America has a long, shameful history of making racist presumptions about Black men 
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being hypersexual.336 The absence of evidence to support this “overtly eyeing” 

narrative—and the significant role that Bickerstaff’s lie played in shaping it—proves that 

bias is indeed present. With this record, the Commission should reject Disciplinary 

Counsel’s allegations and hold that Judge Morrow did not commit misconduct.  

Argument 4: Brown Factors 

If the Commission concludes that Judge Morrow committed misconduct, it must 

determine the appropriate sanction. To do so, it should employ the non-exclusive list of 

factors from the Michigan Supreme Court’s opinion in In re Brown (2000).337 There, the 

Court explained that, “all else being equal, 

a. misconduct that is part of a pattern or practice is more serious 
than an isolated instance of misconduct; 
 

b. misconduct on the bench is usually more serious than the 
same misconduct off the bench; 
 

c. misconduct that is prejudicial to the actual administration of 
justice is more serious than misconduct that is prejudicial only 
to the appearance of propriety; 
 

d. misconduct that does not implicate the actual administration 
of justice, or its appearance of impropriety, is less serious than 
misconduct that does not; 
 

e. misconduct that occurs spontaneously is less serious than 
misconduct that is premeditated or deliberated; 
 

f. misconduct that undermines the ability of the justice system 
to discover the truth of what occurred in a legal controversy, 
or to reach the most just result in such a case, is more serious 
than misconduct that merely delays such discovery; 
 

                                           
336 See Duru, The Central Park Five, 25 Cardozo L Rev at 1320 
337 In re Brown, 461 Mich 1291; 625 NW2d 744 (2000). 



47 
 

g. misconduct that involves the unequal application of justice on 
the basis of such considerations as race, color, ethnic 
background, gender, or religion are more serious than 
breaches of justice that do not disparage the integrity of the 
system on the basis of a class of citizenship.338  

The Michigan Supreme Court and the Commission have continued to apply the Brown 

factors without revision or addition of further guidelines.339  

In this case, the Brown factors militate in favor of lighter discipline—if any 

discipline is warranted at all:  

 There is no pattern or practice of misconduct. The only comparable 
incidents that Disciplinary Counsel cited were from 2004 and 2005—
a decade and a half before the incidents giving rise to this case. With 
a gap of 15 years between allegations, Disciplinary Counsel did not 
establish a “pattern or practice.” 
 

 All of the alleged misconduct took place off the bench, in private 
conversations with attorneys (as opposed to Hocking, where the 
offensive comments were on the bench and the Court found no 
misconduct).  
 

 None of the alleged misconduct caused prejudice to any party. And 
none impacted the Matthews case, since the hung jury resulted in a 
retrial.  
 

 None of the alleged misconduct implicated “the actual 
administration of justice.”  
 

 All of the comments were spontaneous.  
 

 None of the alleged misconduct “undermine[d] the ability of the 
justice system to discover the truth of what occurred in a legal 
controversy, or to reach the most just result in a case.” 
 

 None of the alleged misconduct involved discrimination. Although 
Disciplinary Counsel argued that Judge Morrow’s conduct 
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somehow amounted to gender discrimination, the Master correctly 
declined to make that finding.  

All of the Brown factors indicate that Judge Morrow’s alleged conduct is on the 

“less severe” end of the spectrum. Consequently, if the Commission decides that any 

misconduct occurred, it should impose only minimal discipline, such as public censure. 

This conclusion finds additional support in discipline imposed in other cases. The 

Michigan Supreme Court has recognized the fundamental principle “that equivalent 

misconduct should be treated equivalently.”340 Applying the Brown factors, the Court has 

imposed discipline as follows: 

 Removal: In re Adams (2013) (perjury);341 In re James (2012) (misuse of 
public funds, misrepresentations during disciplinary process, 
violation of anti-nepotism policy);342 In re Justin (2012) (“fixing” 
tickets, false statements under oath);343 In re Noecker (2005) (false 
statements after drunk driving accident).344  
 

 Suspension for one year: In re Chrzanowski (2001) (appointment of 
attorney with whom judge was having intimate relationship in 56 
cases, false statement to detective, failure to disclose intimate 
relationship).345 
 

 Suspension for nine months: In re Simpson (2017) (interfering with 
investigation and prosecution, and making intentional 
misrepresentation about purpose of text messages).346  
 

 Suspension for ninety days: In re Nebel (2010) (driving while 
intoxicated).347 
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 Suspension for sixty days: In re Morrow (2014) (violating various 
rules and procedures);348 In re Hathaway (2001) (conducting 
arraignment without prosecutor, threatening to jail defendant if he 
did not waive jury right, pattern of untimeliness and 
adjournments).349 
 

 Suspension for thirty days: In re Post (2013) (refusal to allow 
invocation of Fifth Amendment and jailing of attorney who 
counseled client to remain silent).350 
 

 Suspension for fourteen days: In re Halloran (2010) (dishonesty in 
managing courtroom and reporting to State Court Administrator’s 
Office).351 
 

 Censure: In re Gorcyca (2017) (“discourteous and hostile conduct 
toward children”);352 In re Servaas (2009) (moving outside of judicial 
district and drawing lewd pictures);353 In re Haley (2006) (accepting 
football tickets in court);354 In re Moore (2005) (eighteen-month delay 
between arraignment and trial);355 In re McCree (2012) (texting 
shirtless photo of self);356 In re Logan (2010) (arranging for release on 
bond for another elected official);357 In re Fortinberry (2006) (sending 
defamatory letter).358 

A clear abuse of office—sending an attorney who sought to invoke the federal 

constitution to jail—resulted in a suspension of only thirty days (Post). None of the 

misconduct alleged against Judge Morrow is even close to that kind of disregard for clear 

legal rights and abuse of power. Actual dishonesty to a chief judge and the State Court 
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Administrator’s Office resulted in a suspension of only fourteen days (Halloran). Again, 

none of the allegations against Judge Morrow involve dishonesty.  

The closest analogue is In re Gorcyca (2017),359 where the respondent was 

discourteous to children in her courtroom. The respondent in Gorcyca received a public 

censure. Applying the “fundamental premise” that “equivalent misconduct should be 

treated equivalently,” a public censure is the most severe sanction warranted here.  

Conclusion 

This proceeding is unconstitutional under Williams and it violated Judge Morrow’s 

rights under the Michigan Court Rules. Accordingly, Judge Morrow is entitled to a new 

hearing. If the Commission relies on 2020 hearing, however, it should apply Hocking and 

conclude that Judge Morrow did not commit misconduct. And if it does find misconduct, 

the only appropriate sanction under the Brown factors is public censure.  

Respectfully Submitted. 

Collins Einhorn Farrell PC 
      

/s/ Donald D. Campbell    
     Donald D. Campbell P43088 
     Trent B. Collier (P66448) 

4000 Town Center, 9th Floor 
     Southfield, MI 48075 
     248 355-4141 

 

      Elizabeth Jacobs 
615 Griswold, Suite 1120 
Detroit, MI 48226 
248 891-9844 
 

Dated: March 9, 2021   Counsel for Hon. Bruce Morrow 
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